SKEENAESI applied QGIS training

QGIS Essentials Reference Manual

For QGIS Release 3.4

Prepared for:

Applied QGIS 2020 Workshop Wet'suwet'en First Nation and the Skeena Sustainability Assessment Forum

Prepared by:

Eclipse Geomatics Ltd. 3423 Fulton Avenue Unit 102 Smithers BC VOJ 2N0

March 2020

Table of Contents

1.0 Get	ting Started	. 1
1.1	How to Import a Spatial Dataset into your Project	. 1
1.2	How to Import a Spreadsheet into your Project	. 2
1.3	How to Save a Spatial File	. 3
1.4	How to Add a Web Map Layer	. 4
1.5	How to Create a Print Map	. 5
1.5.1	L Add Map Elements	5
1.5.2	2 Set Page Size	5
1.5.3	B Format Map Elements	6
1.5.4	Export and Print	7
1.6	How to Create a Georeferenced PDF Map	. 8
20 Wo	rking with Projections	9
2.1	How to Set the Projection for a Project	. 9
2.2	How to Save Lavers in a New Projection	10
3.0 Con	nmon Geoprocessing Tasks	11
3.1	How to Clip Vector Layers	11
3.2	How to Add a Buffer to a Vector Layer	12
4.0 Wo	rking with Spatial Data	13
4.1	How to Select by Feature	13
4.1.1	Select by Feature Using the Tool Bar	13
4.1.2	2 Select by Feature Using the Attribute Table	14
4.1.3	3 Select by Feature Using Values or Expressions	15
4.2	How to Style Layers	17
4.2.1	L Changing How a Layer is Displayed	17
4.2.2	2 Categorized Styles	18
4.2.3	3 Graduated Styling	19
4.2.4	Styling Using Expressions	21
4.2.5	5 Adding Labels	22
5.0 Edit	ina Spatial Files	23
5.1	How to Edit Values in an Attribute Table	23
5.2	How to Rename an Attribute	24
5.3	How to Add a New Attribute Column to an Attribute Table	25
5.4	How to Add a Calculated Field	27
COT ===	ublache sting Common langes in OCIC	20
6.U Irol	ublesnooting Lommon Issues in UGIS	29 20
6.2	Coopercosting Tool Doos Not Work	27
0.2		3U 20
b.3	Layer in wrong Location	3U 24
6.4		31
6.5	QGIS is Being Unresponsive	31

1.0 Getting Started

1.1 How to Import a Spatial Dataset into your Project

To start working with a dataset in the QGIS map view, go to the Browser Panel and navigate to the folder where your file exists. If you cannot see the browser panel, in the top menu ribbon go to View > Panels > Browser. The browser panel should now be in the left-hand side of the interface.



- 1. Drag and drop the file into the QGIS map view and it will appear. You can also now find the layer in the Layers panel
- 2. Alternatively, you can also add spatial data by dragging files into the QGIS map view from your computer's file explorer

Note: this method will only work for shapefile (.shp), geopackage (.gpkg), KML (.kml), geodatabase (.gdb), GPS Exchange Format (.gpx) but NOT for a comma-separated values (.csv) files. For shapefiles, only the .shp file needs to be dragged in, not all the files associated with it.

1.2 How to Import a Spreadsheet into your Project

You can import spreadsheet data into your QGIS project. In the top menu ribbon, go to Layer > Add Layer > Add Delimited Text Layer.

Note: the spreadsh	eet must be in .csv format	t, and not .xlsx	
Layer Settings Plugins Vector	Raster Database Web Processing W *tut3 - QGIS *tut3 - QGIS V _G Add Vector Layer \$%V & Add Raster Layer \$%V & Add Raster Layer \$%E >, Add Delimited Text Layer \$%E & Add PostGIS Layers \$%E & Add Spatialite Layer \$%E & Add MSSQL Spatial Layer \$%2 & Add/Edit Virtual Layer \$%2 & Add/Edit Virtual Layer \$%2 & Add/Edit Virtual Layer \$%2 & Add ArcGIS MapServer Layer \$%2 & Add WCS Layer \$%2 & Add WCS Layer \$%2		Data Source Manager Delimited Text e name /Volumes/GoogleDrive/My Drive/QGIS Tutorial Materials/earthquake data.txt e name earthquake data Encoding UTF-8 e intermat CSV (comma separated values) CSV (comma separated values) GSV (comma separated values) Custon delimiter Cu
✓ Current Edits ► Save As Save As Layer Definition File ❑ Remove Layer/Group ₩D ❑ Duplicate Layer(s) ₩E Set CRS of Layer(s) ♪₩C Set CRS of Layer(s) ♪₩C Set Project CRS from Layer ↓₩C Layer Properties ₩F ➡ Labeling ♥S Show in Overview ∞ Show All in Overview ♥	Add ArcGIS FeatureServer Layer	G VFS S ArcOlS Map Server S ArcOlS Feature Server S GenNode	Use spatial index Use subset index Watch file Sample Data Image: Comparison of the ima

In the Data Source Manager > Delimited Text menu,

- 1. Click the ellipses beside the 'File name' field. Navigate to where your file is located in your computer and select it. In the 'Layer name' field, the file name will appear
- 2. Under the 'File Format' section, select the format that corresponds to your data. This will most likely be CSV (comma separated values)
 - For the 'Custom delimiters' option, select how values in your data file are separated
- 3. The Geometry Definition section will be automatically filled in if coordinates are detected
 - The 'Point Coordinates' option will be selected if longitude, latitude coordinates are detected in your file. Ensure that the correct attributes that correspond to the X field and Y field are selected (i.e. X = longitude or easting, Y = latitude or northing)
 - The 'No geometry' option will be selected if no coordinates are detected
- 4. In the 'Geometry CRS' option, the default option should be selected if longitude, latitude coordinates are being used
 - If longitude, latitude coordinates are not being used, select the correct CRS for your project (e.g. UTM)
- 5. In the 'Sample Data' window, check to see that the layout of the data is correct
- 6. Click 'Add'

The new layer should now appear in the QGIS map view, and in the Layers panel.

Note: If your coordinates appear in the wrong location, double-check that the coordinates are not reversed. Longitude/easting must be the X coordinate and latitude/northing must be the Y coordinate.

1.3 How to Save a Spatial File

Save your temporary scratch layer so it is accessible for future projects. To do so, in the Layers panel, right-click on the layer > Export > Save Features As...

80 L	ayers				Save Vecto	r Layer as	
🗸 🖪 🔍 🕇	ε ₁₇ , ₩ ≫	•	4				
Photo Photo	💭 Zoom to Layer		1	Format	ESRI Shapefile		<u> </u>
🔻 🗹 🕌 OSM	Show in Overview			File name			2 ()
	Show Feature Count	TOWNED TO TAGE D		Layer name			
	Copy Layer Rename Layer	ouver street Honway	3	CRS	Default CRS: EPSG:3005 - I	NAD83 / BC Albers	۵ 🍖
	Duplicate Layer	and Solution					
	Open Attribute Table			Encoding		UTF-8	\$
	Filter	Park Place		Save only	selected features		
Q Type to loca	Set Layer Scale Visibility Set CRS	on layer Photos. Coordinate -14155711,		 Add saved Select fit 	l file to map	art options	
	🗟 Make Permanent			,			
Page 1 of 1 57 wo	Export >	Save Features As Save Selected Features As		▼ Geometr	У		
	Styles Properties	Save as Layer Definition File		Geometry	type	Automatic	\$
				Force m	ulti-type		
				✓ Include	z-dimension		
				Exten	t (current: layer)		
				▼ Layer Op	tions		
				RESIZE	NO		2
			C	Help			Cancel OK

In the Save Vector Layer as... menu,

- 1. In the 'Format' field, select the desired file type (e.g. ESRI Shapefile, geopackage)
- 2. In the 'File name' field, click on the ellipses then navigate to the project folder
- 3. In the 'CRS' field, select the projection you want. Usually it will be EPSG:3005 -NAD 83/BC Albers
 - If you only want to export certain features of a layer, export the file as above, and ensure that the 'Save only selected feature' box is checked
- 4. Click 'OK'

The new file should now appear in your project folder.

1.4 How to Add a Web Map Layer

It is possible to add base map layers into your project from the web. An easy way to do this is with a plugin called QuickMapServices. To install this plugin, navigate to the menu ribbon near the top and go to Plugins > Manage and Install Plugins.



- plugin
- 2. Click 'Install Plugin'
- To import a web map layer into your project, go to the top menu ribbon and then Web > QuickMapServices. You can then pick a webmap server and import one of their base maps by clicking on it
 - If you would like a wider selection of base maps, go to the QuickMapServices > Settings > More Services. Then, click the 'Get contributed pack' button. Click 'Save'. This will add a far greater variety of base maps that you can import

Once a base map has been imported, you will able to see it in the Layers panel, as well as the map view.

Note: In the QuickMapServices search window, layers are given a red/yellow/green dot indicating whether they are currently working. This notation system is not reliable (some red layers will work, while some green layers will not work). Also, some base layers are unable to load or print.

Recommendation: Use the Open Street Map (OSM) base map layer for general location, and Bing Aerial for a satellite base map layer.



1.5 How to Create a Print Map

Use the Print Layout to print or save your map as a pdf or image file and add elements such as a legend, scale bar, and information boxes.

From the top menu ribbon, select Project > New Print Layout (or Layouts if you are opening an existing layout).

Enter a unique name for the new print layout (this is not a separate file, it is stored within the QGIS project).

1.5.1 Add Map Elements

Use the tools on the left-hand toolbar to add elements to the print canvas. Select a tool, click on the canvas and hold left-click down to draw a box for the element.



1.5.2 Set Page Size

Change the paper size of the map by right-clicking in the canvas, select Page Properties and choose the page size in Item Properties.

1.5.3 Format Map Elements

Мар

Add/select a map element with the select tool or in the Items panel. Use the Item Properties panel to:

- Set the map scale manually
- Rotate the map
- Set the print map to map canvas extent
- View extent of the print layout in map canvas
- Add a grid overlay
- Change the position and size
- Add a border line (frame)
- And more!

Legend

Add/select a legend element with the select tool or in the Items panel. Use the Item Properties panel to:

- Add a title
- Customize legend items, fonts, and layout
- Add a border line (frame)
- Add a background
- And more!



Scale Bar

Add/select a scale bar element with the select tool or in the Items panel. Use the Item Properties panel to:

- Set the scale bar style
- Set the units and labels
- Define the number of segments and segment size
- Change the display, fonts and colours
- And more!

North Arrow

Add an image element to the print canvas. Under the Item Properties panel, scroll down and expand Search Directories and select desired image. Alternatively, you can upload your own SVG image or picture file.

	Layout	Item Proper	ties (Guides	
80		Item Prop	perties		
Picture					
Top left					0
Search Dire	ectories	>			
ß en Å			۳۳4	ሰ መ.«	
116°	_ 1 ∨ ค.ศ. ที่			us∌ A ↑	$\bigcirc \land$
)✦✦ □□◇			DS ↓×	
¥ * *	B +	v Y		D	118
Image search	paths				
/Application	s/QGIS3.a	pp/Contents/F	Resource	es/svg	0
	Remove			Add	

Format Text Element

Add/select a text element with the select tool or in the Items panel. Use the Item Properties panel to:

- Change the content (Main Properties)
- Change the font and text alignment
- Add a border line (frame)
- Add a background
- And more!

1.5.4 Export and Print

Click on the save as pdf icon on the top ribbon or select Layout > Export as pdf...

Or click on the save as image icon on the top ribbon or select Layout > Export as Image...

Print the map from a pdf or image export file.

1.6 How to Create a Georeferenced PDF Map

Georeferenced PDFs (for use in Avenza Maps and similar programs) can be created in QGIS 3.x (but not in QGIS 2.x). Currently, georeferenced PDF creation is supported on Windows but not on Mac OS.



- 1. To create a georeferenced PDF map in QGIS 3.x on Windows, create a print layout as normal.
- 2. When the layout is complete, choose 'Export as PDF...' and save the layout.
- 3. The PDF will automatically be created with embedded location information and can be transferred to a field device and imported into Avenza Maps.

2.0 Working with Projections

2.1 How to Set the Projection for a Project

To set the projection for a project, in the top menu ribbon go to Project > Properties and in the Project Properties menu > CRS. Alternatively, click on the CRS box at the bottom of the main window to bring up the projection properties panel.

	0	Proje	ct Properties CF	RS		
Q		Project Coordinate Reference Sys	tem (CRS)			
\geqslant	General	No projection (or unknown/non-	-Earth projection)			
1	Metadata 1	Filter Q				
	CRS	Recently used coordinate refere	nce systems			
	CKS	Coordinate Reference System		Authority ID		
*	Default Styles					
	Data Sources					
■	Relations					
	Variables	4				•
~		Coordinate reference systems of	the world		Hide depre	cated CRSs
~	Macros	Coordinate Reference System		Authority ID		
	OGIS Server	NAD27 / California Alber	'S	EPSG:330	9	
		NAD27 / California Alber	'S	EPSG:423	08	
		NAD27 / Conus Albers		EPSG:506	9	
		NAD83 / Alaska Albers		EPSG:333	8	
		NAD83 / Albers NorthAr	n	EPSG:423	03	
		NAD83 / BC Albers		EPSG:300	5	
		4			•	•
		NAD83 / BC Albers WKT PRDJCS["NAD83 / BC Albers" 	, GEOGCS["NAD83" m_1983", SPHERO RITY["EPSC", "7 ø], AUTHORITY[" envi ch", ", several are availa bestination CRS EPSG:4326	ble (defined in global setting)	
		5				5
		Help Apply			Cancel	ОК

1. Use the 'Filter' to find your desired projection

Usage	Projection
ESI Default	EPSG:3005 NAD 83/ BC Albers
UTM	EPSG:26909 NAD83/UTM Zone 9N
Web Mapping	EPSG:4326 WGS84 or EPSG:3857 WGS84/Pseudo-
	Mercator
GPS Lat/Long	EPSG:4269 NAD83

- 2. Alternatively, you can search for a projection under the 'Coordinate reference systems of the world' window; select the projection that you would like to use for your project
- 3. Click 'Apply' and then 'OK' to save your changes

The project should now have a new global projection.

Note: Changing a project projection does not change the projection of its layers. It only makes layers appear in the project projection, and the underlying data is not reprojected. To change the projection of a layer, see Section 2.2.

2.2 How to Save Layers in a New Projection

In order to perform geoprocessing with multiple vector layers they must be in the same projection. To fix this, go to the Layers panel to export your layers into the same projection.

- 1. Right-click the layer with the projection you wish to change
- 2. Select Export > Save Features As



- 3. In the Save Vector Layer as... menu, click the ellipses next to the 'File name' field and define your new layer in your project folder
- 4. In the 'CRS' field, select the desired projection for the new layer
- 5. Click 'OK' and the new layer will be generated in the Layers panel

Note: If you right-click a layer and select Properties, and in the Layer Properties menu > Source, under 'Geometry and Coordinate Reference System', there is a 'Set source coordinate reference system' field which allows you to select a new CRS for the layer. This option should be used when an imported layer's projection has not been read correctly (which often results in the layer not appearing or appearing in the wrong place on import). It does not reproject the layer and is not the correct option if reprojection is needed.

3.0 Common Geoprocessing Tasks

3.1 How to Clip Vector Layers

Clipping allows you to "cut out" a new layer in QGIS using two vector layers: an input layer and an overlay layer. To analogize, imagine cookie dough and a cookie cutter. The input layer is the dough, while the overlay layer is the cutter, and the new resulting clipped layer is the cookie.

To access the Clip tool, in the top menu ribbon go to Vector > Geoprocessing Tools > Clip.



In the Clip menu,

- 1. In the 'Input layer' field, select the layer that you wish to clip ("dough")
- 2. In the 'Overlay layer' field, select the layer that you wish to clip with ("cutter")
- 3. In the 'Clipped' field, you have the option to save your new file or create a temporary layer (default)
 - If you wish to save the new output layer into your project folder, click the ellipses to the right of the input box, and select "Save to File..." to do so
 - The default option will output a temporary layer. These layers must be made permanent or else they will be lost when the project is closed
- 4. Click 'Run', and the new layer will be generated in the Layers panel
 - If you encounter an error with the clipping, check if the layers are in the same projection. If not see Section 2.2 on how to save the layer in a new projection

3.2 How to Add a Buffer to a Vector Layer

Buffers are spatial boundaries around points, lines, or polygon shapes. Buffers can be helpful for determining whether one feature is within a certain distance of another feature, which is a very useful analytical tool. To add buffers, in the top menu ribbon select Vector > Geoprocessing Tools > Buffer.

QGIS Project Edit View Layer Settings Plugins Vector Raster Database Web Processing Window Help Image: Comparison of the setting of the	, III III
Parameters Log Input layer Input layer V Traitroads [EPSG:2964] • Selected features only Distance 1 Optimizer Segments • 5 • End cap style • Round • Join style • Round • V Dissolve result • Buffered • [Create temporary layer] • • •	Buffer This algorithm computes a buffer area for all the features in an input layer, using a fixed or dynamic distance. The segments parameter controls the number of line segments to use to approximate a quarter circle when creating rounded offsets. The end cap style parameter specifies how line endings are handled in the buffer. The join style parameter specifies whether round, miter or beveled joins should be used when offsetting corners in a line. The miter limit parameter is only applicable for miter
0% Help Run as Batch Process	Close Run

- 1. In the Buffer menu, select an input layer containing the features that you would like to buffer
- 2. In the 'Distance' field, type in a distance and select a unit for how great the buffer zone will be (i.e. distance from...)
- 3. The 'End cap style' and 'Join style' are stylistic choices
- 4. Check the 'Dissolve Result' option. This will result in a buffer zone that is unsegmented
- 5. Under the 'Buffered' field, the default option will output a temporary layer. These layers must be made permanent or else they will be lost when the project is closed.
 - If you wish to save the new output layer into your project folder, click the ellipses to the right of the input box, and select "Save to File..."
- 6. Click 'Run'

The Buffered layer should now appear in the Layers panel, as well as in the map view. You can rearrange the order of the layers to show the original feature within its buffer zone.

4.0 Working with Spatial Data

4.1 How to Select by Feature

You may want to perform operations or analyses on a subset of features in your layer, which is possible by selecting them.

4.1.1 Select by Feature Using the Tool Bar

Ensure you have the layer of interest highlighted in the Layers panel and click the 'Select Features by area or single click' button > Select Feature(s) in the tool bar.



- Click features in your Layer to select them. The features will be highlighted once you do. Shift + click to select multiple features
- To select multiple features quickly, go to 'Select Features by area or single click' button > Select Features by Polygon



- In the map view, click a spot to set a point of the polygon capture-area. When all desired features are within the polygon capture-area, right-click to highlight the selected features
- 3. To select all features, in the tool bar, click the 'Select all Features' button



4. To deselect all features, in the tool bar, click the 'Deselect Features from All Layers' button



4.1.2 Select by Feature Using the Attribute Table

Go to the 'Open Attribute Table' button located in the tool bar. The attribute table will open.



1. Click on the row indices. The row will now be highlighted in blue in the attribute table and will also be highlighted in the map view. Shift-click to select multiple features

4.1.3 Select by Feature Using Values or Expressions

To select features according to their attribute values, in the tool bar, go to the 'Select Features by Value' button.



- 1. In the 'Select Features by Value' menu, there is a field for each attribute in the layer.
- 2. Customize the criteria for the desired features by entering values into the attribute fields, and using the drop-down menus beside them to pick operators
- 3. Click 'Select Features' to select the features that contain the desired values
- 4. For more customized selections using attribute values, you can also use the 'Select Features by Expression..." option



- 5. In the 'Select by Expression' menu, you can enter in expressions that capture your desired features in the Expression window
 - In the example below, features with areas between 200 and 400 are being selected
 - To quickly input attributes into the Expression window, go to Search Window
 > Fields and Values to find a list of all available attributes in the layer



6. Click 'Select features' to select the features captured by the expression

The features should now be highlighted in the map view.



4.2 How to Style Layers

Styling allows you to visually highlight important findings within your data layer. Below are some simple styling techniques to help you with this. To style a layer, double-click on the layer you wish to alter in the Layers panel, or right-click the layer > Properties. In the Layer Properties menu > Symbology,

•	0.		Layer Properties -	US Symbology		
Q		E Single symt	ol 1			*
i	Information		≠ Fill			•
3	Source		Simple fill			
*	Symbology					
-000	Labels					
۹.	Diagrams	Symbol layer ty	pe Simple fill 3			٠
9	3D View	Fill color				• €.
	Fields	Fill style	Solid			• €.
	Attributes Form	Stroke color				• €.
	Joins	Stroke width	0.260000	a (Millimeters	• €.
	Auviliary Storana	Stroke style	Solid Line			• 🖶
	Huxinary Storage	Join style	Revel			• 🖶
	Actions	Officer	x 0.000000	:	Millmaters	-
9	Display	Unser	y 0.000000	:	Millimeters	•
*	Rendering					
\mathfrak{S}	Variables					
2	Metadata					
-	Dependencies					
	Legend					
	QGIS Server					
82	Digitizing					
		✓ Enable layer	E. Draw effects			
		h Laver Read	ering A			Δ
		Help	Style * Apply		Cancel	ок

4.2.1 Changing How a Layer is Displayed

- 1. Select 'Single symbol' in the drop-down menu at the very top
- 2. In the window below, click on the Symbol layer type line beneath the 'Fill' option
- 3. In the 'Symbol layer type' field, select the type of fill. Different fill options will result in different colouring patterns/stylistic effects. Each symbol layer type has further options for customization
- 4. After altering options to your liking, click 'Apply' and then 'OK' to save your changes

The appearance of the layer should now be changed in the map view.

4.2.2 Categorized Styles

Categorized styles allows you to display all unique values of an attribute.

Θ Ο Ο Ι	ayer Propertie	es - pes	t-infestation_py_d	atabc_nwbc_	epsg3005_2019	-08-27 Symbo	ology	
٩	🚍 Categori	zed 📘						•
Information	Value	abc PST	_SEV_DS					2 - ε
3	Symbol							
Source	Color romp				Pandom color	r		
😻 Symbology	Color ramp				Random Color	3		
(abc) Labels	V Li	ight	Light					
Diagrams	✓ M	evere	Moderate Severe	4				
SD View		race ery	Trace Very Severe	-				
Fields	√ a	ll oth						
Joins								
Auxiliary Storage								
S Actions	-							
🧭 Display								
≼ Rendering								
8 Variables								
Metadata								
Dependencies								
Legend								
QGIS Server								
Digitizing								
	3							
	Classify	•	📼 Delete All					Advanced *
	Layer Re	ndering	· 5					5
	Help	Stv	le - Apply				Cancel	ОК

- 1. Select 'Categorized' in the drop-down menu at the very top
- 2. In the 'Value' field, select the attribute whose values you wish to colour
- 3. Click 'Classify' to generate the list of unique values for the selected attribute
- 4. Alter the appearance of each unique value by double-clicking them
- 5. When satisfied, click 'Apply' and/or 'OK' to apply the changes

The layer should now appear with its categorized styles in the map view.

4.2.3 Graduated Styling

Graduated styling is best utilized for numerical attributes and shows the geographical distribution and range of values present in the dataset. Graduated styling can also be used to apply thresholds to datasets.

		ayer Properties -	Skeena_ESI_T1_Wat	ershed_net_20191101 Symbolog	ý
ď		불 Graduated			٥
i	Information	Column	1.2 Rd_Density		3 ~
3	Source	Symbol		Change	
~	Symbology	Legend format	%1 - %2		Precision 4 0 Trim
abc	Labels	Method	Color		٥
۹.	Diagrams	Color ramp			
Ŷ	3D View	Classes	Histogram		
	Source Fields	Symbol - Valu	ues Legend		
	Attributes Form				
	Joins				
ť	Auxiliary Storage				
٩	Actions				
9	Display	Mode Equal Ir	nterval 🗘		Classes 5
*	Rendering	Symmetric	ric Classification		
	Variables	Classify	-	Delete All	Advanced ~
2	Metadata	✓ Link class bo	oundaries		
	Dependencies				
	Legend	▶ Layer Rende	ering		
	QGIS Server	Help Sty	yle ~ Apply		Cancel OK

- 1. Select 'Graduated' in the drop-down menu at the very top
- 2. In the 'Column' field, select the attribute whose values you wish to colour
- 3. Click 'Classify' to generate the list of unique values for the selected attribute
 - By default, the data will be divided into 5 equal classes based on the range of data values



	l 🛛 🖉	_ayer Properties -	Skeena_ESI_T1_Watershed_net_20191101 Symbol	ogy
Q		불 Graduated		\$
i	Information	Column	1.2 Rd_Density	3 ~
3	Source	Symbol	Change	
~	Symbology	Legend format	%1 - %2	Precision 1 🗘 🗌 Trim
abc	Labels	Method	Color	٥
۹.	Diagrams	Color ramp		
%	3D View	Classe)	Histogram)	
	Source Fields	Symbol Valu	Legend	
-8	Attributes Form	0.6	00 - 1.200 Moderate risk	
•◀	Joins	.2	00 - 3.936 High fisk	
	Auxiliary Storage	d)		
٩	Actions			
,	Display	Mode Equal Ir	nterval 🗘	a) Classes 3 0
*	Rendering	Symmetric	ric Classification	
3	Variables	Classify	🕀 🧰 Delete All	Advanced ~
2	Metadata	✓ Link class bo	undaries	
4	Dependencies			
8 -	Legend	▶ Layer Rende	ering	
	QGIS Server	Help Sty	/le v Apply	Cancel OK

- 4. You can customize the graduated style or use it to apply thresholds to a data layer. For example,
 - a) Change the number of classes to 3
 - b) Change the values of the classes (double-click on the Values)
 - c) Rename the entries under Legend for each threshold range
 - d) Change the colours for each threshold (double-click on the colour square to open the colour panel)
 - Note that the Legend will not automatically update when the values are changed
- 5. Click 'Apply' and 'OK' to save and exit

The layer should now have a graduated style in the Layers panel.

4.2.4 Styling Using Expressions

You can also style a layer based on expressions. Expressions allow you to group features into categories based on their attribute values.



Label	Few
Filter	TREES" >= 0 AND "NUM_TREES" < 25 8 Test
🔿 Else	Catch-all for other features
Description	Infestation is greater than 0 and less than 25 trees
Scale ra	nge
Minimum	exclusive) Maximum (inclusive)
1:10	0000 - 🔊 🗩 1:1000 - 🖎
✓ Symbol	
1	▼ • Marker 🕀 🖡
	Simple marker
	3

- 1. Select the 'Rule-based' option in the drop-down menu at the very top
- 2. Click the green '+' button near the bottom to add a new rule
 - a. In the dialogue box that pops up, for the 'Label' field, type in the name of the rule that you wish to define
 - b. In the 'Filter' field, type in an expression to group relevant values under this rule
 - c. The 'Else' option allows you to define a rule to group all remaining features not belonging to a defined rule
 - d. In the 'Description' field, you can provide an explanation for what the rule does
 - e. The 'Scale range' option may be selected if you wish to set when the symbols will display depending on the scale of the map
 - f. Check the 'Symbol' box to assign a symbol to this rule. You can add additional markers for the same rule with the green '+' button. Note that you can only use one marker at a time
 - g. To further customize the appearance of symbols, scroll down the dialogue box for more formatting options
- 3. Click 'OK' to generate the new rule
- 4. To edit an existing rule, click the rule and click the 'Edit current rule' button near the bottom of the window
- 5. To delete an existing rule, click the rule and click the 'Remove selected rules' button
- 6. To change the styling/colour of the rule symbols, you can also select the rule from the Layers panel to open the Symbol Selector menu

4.2.5 Adding Labels

You can also add labels to features. To add labels, double-click the layer in the Layers panel to open the Layer Properties box. Then, go to Layer Properties > Labels.

	0				Layer Properties - US Labels			
Q		📟 Single labels						- 🅎
i	Information	Value abc NAME	2					3 -
သူ့	Source	Text Sample						
Ĩ	Symbology	Lorem Ipsum	4					A
abo	Labels							-
	Diagona	Lorem Ipsum				1:7595760	-	-
	Diagrams	abc Text	Text					
Y	3D View	tab Formatting	Font	Arial				- €.
	Fields	Background	Style	Bold				
-8	Attributes Form	Shadow		⊻ €.	€ €.		в .	/ €.
•	Joins	Placement	Size	16.0000				\$ €.
đ	Auxiliary Storage	/ Rendering		Points				- €.
٢	Actions	3	Color					। ●
9	Display		Opacity				100.0 %	\$ €.
*	Rendering		Q Fav	vorites			~	• *
3	Variables							
2	Metadata							
	Dependencies							
8-	Legend							
	QGIS Server							
8	Digitizing							
				_				
				5			Save S	Settings
		Help St	yle -	Apply			Cancel	ОК

- 1. In the drop-down menu at the very top, select 'Single labels'
- 2. In the 'Value' field, select the attribute that you wish to label
- 3. Further label customizations are available in the list selection on the left-hand side
 - Under the 'Text' customization, you can perform common text alterations such as changing the labels' font, style, size, colour, and opacity
 - Under the 'Buffer' customization, you can create a coloured text buffer to highlight the labels
 - Under the 'Placement' customization, you can change the location of the labels relative to their features
- 4. In the 'Text Sample' box, you can preview the Label styling
- 5. After altering labels to your liking, click 'Apply' and 'OK' to save your changes

The labels should now appear in the map view.

5.0 Editing Spatial Files

WARNING – This process will permanently change your data layer once the changes are saved. Make a new version of any permanent or base data layers you are working with before making any of these changes to avoid overwriting the original data layers.

5.1 How to Edit Values in an Attribute Table

To edit the values of attributes in a spatial file, with the layer selected, go to the 'Open Attribute Table' button near the top, or right-click 'Open Attribute Table'. The attribute table will open.



- 1. Click the 'Toggle editing mode' button
- 2. Double-click on a value in the desired column, and type in a new value, then hit Enter
- 3. Re-click the 'Toggle Editing Mode' to re-toggle editing mode to save changes

The value of that attribute has now changed.

5.2 How to Rename an Attribute

You can change the name of an attribute in your shapefile for better readability or usage. In the Layers panel, right-click the layer whose attributes you wish to change, and > Properties.



- 1. Go to Layer Properties menu > Fields (on the left)
- 2. Click the 'Toggle Edits' button at the top
- 3. In the 'Name' column, double click on one of the attributes. You can then change the name of the attribute by typing it in
- 4. Click 'Apply' and then 'OK' to save your changes

You can check that the name of the attribute has changed by clicking the 'Open Attribute Table' button in the tool bar and seeing if the attribute is listed there.

5.3 How to Add a New Attribute Column to an Attribute Table

To add a new attribute column to the attribute table, in the Layers panel, right-click on the data layer > Open Attribute table or click on the 'Open Attribute Table' button in the tool menu

Layers		9						
🗸 🏨 🔍 ү ६, - 💷 🟦 🗔			\bigcirc	00		airports ::	Features Total:	76, Filtered: 76, Selected: 0
railroads		-1	/	🛛 💋 🕞 😂 🛛 📆		1 😜 🚍 💟	💊 🝸 🛎 🐥	2 🐘 🛍 😑 📾 🍭
Buffered			123	3 ID 👻 =	3			▼ Update All Update Selected
/ airports				ID 🔺	fk_region	ELEV	NAME	USE
✓ • airports	[1	1	18	78.000	NOATAK	Other
lakes	<u>Zoom to Layer</u>		2	2	18	264.000	AMBLER	Other
trees	<u>Zoom to Selection</u>		з	3	26	585.000	BETTLES	Other
pipelines	Show in Overview		4	4	18	9.000	RALPH WIEN	. Civilian/Public
🔻 🗌 🕻 Bing Map	Show Feature Count		5	5	18	21.000	SELAWIK	Other Add Field
V Standard	Copy Layer		6	6	26	1113.000	INDIAN MOU	Other 2
	Rename Layer		7	7	18	21.000	BUCKLAND	Other City
	Duplicate Layer		8	8	16	243.000	TIN CITY LRRS	Other
	Remove Layer Move to <u>T</u> op Open Attribute Table Toggle Editing		9	9	16	1329.000	GRANITE MO	Type Text (string)
			10	10	16	0.000		Othor Provider type string
			10	10	00	3.000		Other Length 50 - 6 -
		11	11	11	20	207.000	RALPH M CA	Cancel OK
	/ Current Edits	•	12	12	16	108.000	KOYUK	Other
	Filter		13	13	26	138.000	EDWARD G P	Joint Military/
	Set Laver Scale Visibility		14	14	16	12.000	MOSES POINT	Other
	Set CBS		15	15	16	33.000	NOME	Civilian/Public
	501 0K3	_[16	16	26	1461.000	KALAKAKET	Military
	Export	_'	17	17	16	18.000	UNALAKLEET	Other
	Styles	- 1	18	18	26	624.000	MINCHUMINA	Other
	Properties	_	19	19	16	24.000	GAMBELL	Other
			20	20	16	48.000	SAVOONGA	Other
			21	21	26	306.000	MC GRATH	Civilian/Public
			22	22	26	858.000	TATALINA LR	Other
			23	23	24	12.000	EMMONAK	Other
			24	24	26	282,000	ANVIK	Other
			24	25	15	327.000		Civilian/Public
			25	25	15	327.000	OT MADYO	Other
			26	26	24	282.000	ST MARTS	outer
			27	27	24	417.000	CAPE ROMA	Other
			7	Show All Features		70.000		

- 1. Click the 'Toggle Editing Mode' button to allow editing
- 2. Click the 'New field' button to add a new attribute
- 3. In the Add Field menu, in the 'Name' field, type the name of the new attribute

4. In the 'Type' field, select the attribute data type. Possible Attribute data types:

Data Types	Description
Whole Number (integer)	Whole numbers (not decimals or fractions)
	that are positive or 0 only
Whole Number (integer 64 bit)	Whole numbers (not decimals or fractions)
	that are positive, negative or 0 only
Decimal number (real)	Positive or negative floating-point number.
	The length of the decimal includes the
	maximum number of digits allowed, while the
	precision specifies the number of numbers
	after the decimal point
Text (string)	A specified length of characters
Date	A date in the format YYYY-MM-DD
Date & Time	A date and time value of format YYYY-MM-
	DD hh:mm:ss

- Define type-specific attributes (e.g. length = number of characters for a string)
 Click 'OK'

		•		airports :: F	irports :: Features Total: 76, Filtered: 76, Selected: 0					
8	1	🗾 🕞 😂 1 🕈								
	123	= ID =	3					-	Update All Up	odate Selected
		ID	fk_region	ELEV	NAME	USE	City			
	1	1	18	78.000	NOATAK	Other	Noatak			
	2	10	16	9.000	PORT CLARE	Other	Nome Censu			
	3	11	26	207.000	RALPH M CA	Other	Tanana			
	4	12	16	108.000	KOYUK	Other	NULL 7			
	5	13	26	138.000	EDWARD G P	Joint Military/	NULL NUL	L		
	6	14	16	12.000	MOSES POINT	Other	NULL			
	7	15	16	33.000	NOME	Civilian/Public	NULL			
	8	16	26	1461.000	KALAKAKET	Military	NULL			
	9	17	16	18.000	UNALAKLEET	Other	NULL			

- Add values by double-clicking on cells and typing them in
 Re-click the 'Toggle Editing Mode' to re-toggle editing mode to save changes

5.4 How to Add a Calculated Field

It is possible to create new attributes using values in existing attributes. To add a field to the attribute table this way, open the Attribute Table by pressing the 'Open Attribute Table' in the tool bar.

*tut3 - QGIS									
P	A h la	11 🗋 🔁	Q. Q		👆 🛅 🔛 🚸				
Ĺ	1 🔶 🔿 🛛	abe 📢 🔤	abr abr		. 🕼 🙊 🕴				
20	# () •								
	• • •				lakes :: Eestu				
	7 🗾 🕞 🖂 🛉	📅 🗝 🖻 I	1 6 📃 🕥	💊 🍸 🛎 💠	🗩 💼 📰				
12	23 cat 👻 =	3							
	cat	NAMES	xlabel	ylabel	rotation				
1	2	Lake Minchu		NULL	NULL				
2	3	Lake George		NULL	NULL				
3	4	Nunavakpak		NULL	NULL				
4	5	Dall Lake		NULL	NULL				
5	6	Kenai Lake		NULL	NULL				
6	7	Skilak Lake		NULL	NULL				
7	8	Lake Clark		NULL	NULL				
8	9	Tustumena L		NULL	NULL				
9	10	Nuvakuk Lake		NULL	NULL				
10	11	Iliamna Lake		NULL	NULL				
11	12	Lake Nerka		NULL	NULL				
12	13	Naknek Lake		NULL	NULL				
13	14	Becharof Lake		NULL	NULL				
14	15	Lower Ugashi		NULL	NULL				
15	1	Teshekpuk L	28399	7529752	NULL				

1. Click the "Open Field Calculator" button

. oroaro a mon mon	d		Undate exis	ting field
	u		opulie exis	
Create virtual fiel	d			
Output field name	Square KM			
Output field type	Decimal number (real)	*		
Output field length	7	3 \$		
SAREA / 1000000		row_numl Aggregate Arrays Color Conditiona Conversio Date and Fields and	s als ns Time Values	Group aggregate Contains functions which aggregate values over layers and fields.

- 2. In the Field Calculator box, select the 'Create a new field' box
 - You can also select 'Create virtual field', but these fields are impermanent and will disappear once you close the project
- 3. In the 'Output field name' field, enter a unique name of the new field you wish to generate (cannot create a new attribute with the same name of one that exists)

- 4. In the 'Output field type' field, select the datatype of the new field. Refer to Section 5.3 for information on data types
- 5. Under the 'Expression' tab, type in the expression that will calculate your new field
 - For example, to calculate the area of each feature, use the formula "\$AREA". If using the projection EPSG:3005/ NAD83 BC Albers, the units of the area field will be in m². To convert to km², divide by 1 000 000.
- 6. In the Expression search window, under the option 'Fields and Values', you can select existing fields and add them to the expression
- 7. Click 'OK'

	● ● ● lakes :: Features Total: 15, Filtered: 15, Selected: 0										
1	🕖 😹 😝 C) 📅 🖮 🖂 O) 🖸 🖌 📒 N 🧠 🍸 🗷 🌺 🗭 👫 🛗 🗮 🗐 🔍										
12	123 cat $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{E}$										
	cat	NAMES	xlabel	ylabel	rotation	Square KM					
1	2	Lake Minchu		NULL	NULI	68.961					
2	3	Lake George		NULL	NULI	59.104					
з	4	Nunavakpak		NULL	NULI	132.52					
4	5	Dall Lake		NULL	NULI	411.024					
5	6	Kenai Lake		NULL	NULI	51.945					
6	7	Skilak Lake		NULL	NULI	100.041					
7	8	Lake Clark		NULL	NULI	330.397					
8	9	Tustumena L		NULL	NULI	297.871					
9	10	Nuvakuk Lake		NULL	NULI	247.372					
10	11	Iliamna Lake		NULL	NULI	2637.037					
11	12	Lake Nerka		NULL	NULI	211.615					
12	13	Naknek Lake		NULL	NULI	586.129					
13	14	Becharof Lake		NULL	NULI	1181.035					
14	15	Lower Ugashi		NULL	NULI	413.223					
15	1	Teshekpuk L	28399	7529752	NULI	843.318					

The new field should now appear in the attribute table.

6.0 Troubleshooting Common Issues in QGIS

Below are solutions to five common and confusing issues that can come up in QGIS.

6.1 Exporting Layers Error

On attempting to save/export a layer, the following error appears: "Export to vector file failed. Error: Creation of layer failed (OGR error: failed to create file filename.shp: Permission denied)". This occurs when the location to save the file is not specified. QGIS tries to save the file in the computer's root folder, which is not allowed.



To Fix: always use the ellipsis (three dots) to choose the file location before trying to save.



6.2 Geoprocessing Tool Does Not Work

Another common error is when a clip, intersection, or other algorithm fails. Often this occurs when the two layers are not in the same projection.

To Fix: When performing an operation on two or more layers, always make sure they are in the same projection.

6.3 Layer in Wrong Location

On import, a layer appears in the wrong location, or in no location at all (either the layer will appear in the wrong part of the world or will not appear on any base map).



This polygon should be in Smithers, not the middle of the ocean!

There are two common reasons this occurs:

- 1. A point layer's coordinates have been reversed (latitude and longitude mixed up)
- 2. Any layer is being read in with the wrong projection

To Fix: Some research may be required to determine the issue. If coordinates are reversed, this should be corrected. If an incorrect projection is being used, the correct projection must be determined and applied.

6.4 Tool Functions Not Working

While trying to perform an operation on the attribute table, make an edit, identify a feature, etc., there is no response when attempting to perform the task.

Often, this occurs because the wrong layer is selected. The selected layer is highlighted in the layer panel in blue or grey. In the screenshot below, the layer test_region is in edit mode, but the layer test_study_area is selected. The open attribute table button will open the attribute table of the test_study_area layer, not the test_region layer.



To Fix: Ensure that the correct layer is selected in the Layers panel before making edits.

6.5 QGIS is Being Unresponsive

Sometime QGIS will not respond (i.e. a menu won't open, an operation is failing, etc.). Although QGIS is generally very reliable, bugs do occur.

To Fix: If an unexpected behaviour occurs, it is always worth saving the project and restarting QGIS. If this solves the issue, it was likely a bug that doesn't need further attention from the user.